A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The Petitioner, State of Washington, requests this Court 

grant review of the Court of Appeals decision in State v. Denham, 

2020 WL 2026799 (Div I. April 27, 2020) (Appendix A). 

8. DECISION BELOW AND ISSUES PRESENTED FOR 
REVIEW 

Denham was convicted of burglary for committing a very 

sophisticated jewelry store heist, and of trafficking in stolen property 

for subsequently pawning some of the 600 pieces of stolen jewelry. 

Denham possessed two cellphones which he used in 

trafficking the stolen jewelry, and which he possessed prior to the 

burglary. A search warrant was issued for Denham's home and 

cellphones, however his cellphones were never found. A search 

warrant then issued for his cellphone records -- records that 

showed Denham hit off the cellphone tower in the very parking lot 

of the jewelry store at the time the burglary was committed. The 

Court of Appeals rejected the issuing magistrate's determination 

that the facts in the search warrant affidavit provided a reasonable 

inference that evidence of the crime of burglary would be found in 

the place to be searched - Denham's cellphone records. 

Issue One: Where a suspect possesses a cellphone prior to 

committing a crime for which probable cause has been found, and 
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then very shortly thereafter the suspect uses that cellphone in 

committing a subsequent crime, is it a "reasonable inference" that 

evidence of the crime may be found in the place to be searched -

the suspect's cellphone records? 

Prior to committing the current offenses, Denham gave a 

recorded statement while under investigation for a series of prior 

sophisticated burglaries. In the statement Denham boastfully 

described his knowledge and expertise in committing sophisticated 

commercial burglaries. Here the trial court admitted the statement 

under ER 404(b) to show Denham possessed the knowledge to 

have pulled off the charged burglary. The Court of Appeals held 

that 404(b) evidence cannot be admitted unless it directly relates to 

an element of the charged crime, and because knowledge is not an 

element of burglary, the fact that Denham possessed the 

knowledge and expertise to have pulled off the jewelry store heist 

was irrelevant and therefore inadmissible. 

Issue Two: Just like motive evidence being admitted in 

murder cases where motive is not an element of murder, should 

this Court hold that the relevance of evidence is whether the 

evidence makes the existence of a fact of consequence more or 
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less probable than without the evidence, and that it is not limited 

solely to proving a statutory element of the crime? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Mallinak Jewelers is located in a shopping mall in Kirkland. 

The shop has an elaborate security system with motion detectors 

placed throughout and magnetic contact detectors attached to each 

door that trip an alarm if a door is opened. 6RP1 317-19, 322. At 

the back of the store is a utility room that contains phone and 

electrical lines for the mall. 6RP 326, 334. The utility room has two 

doors; a steel door that exits into the alley and cannot be opened 

without a key, and a solid wood door that leads from the utility room 

into the store. 6RP 334-37, 339, 347. Along with a magnetic 

contact detector, there is a steel bar across the middle of the wood 

door to prevent anyone from prying the door open from the utility 

room. 6RP 339. 

The safe where the most expensive jewelry is kept is the 

highest rated safe in the industry -- standing five feet tall and 

weighing 3000 pounds, the safe has two separate locking 

1 The verbatim report of proceedings is cited as follows: 1 RP-2/13/18, 2RP-

2/14/18, 3RP-2/20/18, 4RP-3/5/18, SRP-3/16/18, 6RP-3/22/18, ?RP-

3/28/18, SRP-3/29/18, 9RP-4/2/18, 1 0RP-4/3/18, 11 RP-4/12/18, 12RP-

4/16/18, 13RP-6/15/18, and 14RP-7/19/18. 
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mechanisms, an electromagnetic proximity detector that prevents a 

person from nearing the safe without triggering an alarm, and a 

door contact detector that triggers an alarm if opened. 6RP 322, 

329-32, 381-82. The entire system is monitored in real time, with a 

cellular backup system in case the phone lines are cut. 6RP 322. 

The shop was burglarized over the Veteran's Day weekend 

in 2016. 6RP 320; 9RP 787. The burglar did not gain access 

through any door or window, rather, access was made via the roof. 

6RP 359-60. There is a roof access hatch that leads into the utility 

room that is padlocked on the inside. 6RP 359; 9RP 787-88. The 

padlock had been removed indicating that someone had gained 

access to the utility room and removed the lock prior to the holiday 

weekend. 6RP 359. This likely .occurred when the lock to the outer 

door had to be replaced just prior to the burglary after it was found 

to have been tampered with. 6RP 336-39, 359. 

Prior to making entry via the roof, the burglar had injected 

superglue into the lock of the outer door to prevent anyone from 

entering while the burglary was in progress. 6RP 356. From the 

utility room the burglar took a power saw and cut the wooden door 

into the store in half just below the steel bar on the inside of the 

door. 6RP 343-44; 9RP 787. This allowed the burglar to bypass 
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the steel bar and the magnetic contact detector attached to the top 

of the door. kl Once inside, the burglar cut the wires to the alarm 

system and disabled two alarms attached to the safe. 6RP 341-42, 

351, 379-83; 9RP 789. Using a high-powered drill, the burglar 

drilled two holes into the safe, dislodged the safe's dial, and 

defeated the safe's two locking mechanisms gaining access to the 

jewelry inside. kl The burglar then made off with 600 plus pieces 

of jewelry valued at over $300,000. 6RP 320; 9RP 787. 

On November 14th, the Monday following the weekend 

burglary, Denham pawned some gold jewelry clasps taken in the 

burglary for $300. 7RP 461; 9RP 838, 842. On November 15th, he 

sold a 5.29 carat diamond stolen in the burglary to Andy Le of 

Thien Phuoc Jewelry for $29,000 in cash and gold. 9RP 701-17; 

8RP 569-74; 10RP 954-55. He told Le his father was ill and he 

needed the money. 9RP 703. Le noticed that Denham was 

wearing a distinctive aquamarine necklace. 9RP 719-20. A 

distinctive aquamarine stone on a platinum necklace was stolen in 

the burglary. 6RP 417. Denham returned to Thien Phuoc Jewelry 

a second time and tried to sell more jewelry, telling Le that his 

family was in the jewelry business. 9RP 719. 
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On November 21, Denham pawned a wedding set taken in 

the burglary to Porcello's Jewelry for $2,500. ?RP 481-84; 9RP 

831. He claimed the jewelry was from his mother who had recently 

passed away. ?RP 485. He subsequently called Porcello'.s to 

inquire about selling some loose diamonds and sapphires. ?RP 

487-88. On November 28, Denham pawned a diamond ring taken 

in the burglary to Topkick Jewelers. ?RP 462-65; 9RP 838, 842. 

In early December Denham reported to his community 

corrections officer. 9RP 765-66. He was driving a Range Rover 

and wearing a gold chained necklace with a large stone. 9RP 767-

69. Asked where he obtained the necklace and vehicle, Denham 

told his CCO that his family had come into some money. 9RP 768. 

On December 22, police obtained a warrant for Denham's 

seizure, and search of his person, his Tacoma home, and the 

seizure of his two cellphones. Appendix B. In Denham's home 

detectives found two new headlamps, a want ad for a power drill, 

an empty power drill box, cutting oil used when drilling into metal, a 

camera tool that allows a person to put a camera lens through a 

drilled hole, wire crimpers, advertisements for places to obtain 

money for jewelry, schematics for various safes and locking 

mechanisms, and a number of books on electrical wiring. 1 0RP 
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926-46. Denham had gone into hiding and neither he nor his two 

cellphones were located. Appendix C. 

Detectives then filed an addendum to the original warrant 

affidavit in order to obtain the phone records for Den ham's two 

cellphones. Appendix C; 8RP 603, 659; 1 0RP 856-62, 963, 968. 

The cellphone records showed that while Denham lived in Tacoma, 

over the weekend of the burglary his cellphone hit off the cell tower 

in the parking lot of Mallinak Jewelers' Kirkland store three times; 

once at 11 :53 p.m. on Friday November 11 th , once at 2:22 p.m. on 

Saturday November 12, and again at 2:42 p.m. on November 12. 

8RP 628-42; 9RP 766. 

The day after Denham was charged with burglary and 

trafficking he sent a letter to Frank Mallinak proclaiming that he had 

purchased the stolen jewelry in good faith from a Ukrainian vendor. 

CP 1-9; Trial Exhibit 10. He instructed Mallinak to have the 

charges dropped whereupon he would recover the stolen jewelry. 

~ Denham did not testify at trial. 

D. ARGUMENT 

This Court may grant review where a decision of the Court of 

Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or a 

published decision of the Court of Appeals, or presents a significant 

- 7 -
2005-12 Denham SupCt 



question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or 

of the United States; or involves an issue of substantial public 

interest that should be determined by this Court. The issues raised 

herein meet one or more of these criteria. 

ISSUE ONE: WHAT ARE THE LEGAL AND FACTUAL 

PARAMETERS FOR OBTAINING A SEARCH WARRANT FOR 

A SUSPECT'S CELLPHONE RECORDS 

The issue here is a narrow one. The United States Supreme 

Court and this Court have held that to obtain a suspect's cellphone 

records the police must generally obtain a warrant. That was done 

here. The critical unanswered follow-up question is this: Where 

there is probable cause that a suspect committed a crime, under 

what factual and legal circumstances may a magistrate issue a 

warrant to obtain the suspect's cellphone records? 

There are 70 million more cellphone accounts in the United 

States than there are actual people. Carpenter v. United States, 

_U.S._, 138 S. Ct. 2206, 2211, 201 L. Ed. 2d 507 (2018). 

Individuals "compulsively carry cellphones with them all the time," 

and nearly three-quarters of smartphone users report never being 

more than five feet away from their phone. kt at 2218. As the 

United States Supreme Court stated, modern cellphones "are now 

such a pervasive and insistent part of daily life that the proverbial 
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visitor from Mars might conclude they were an important feature of 

human anatomy." Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373, 385, 134 S. Ct. 

2473, 189 L. Ed. 2d 430 (2014). 

In part due to the sheer pervasiveness of cellphones in 

today's society, and the information that may be contained in 

cellphone records, this Court and the United States Supreme Court 

have said that if police authorities want to obtain a suspect's 

cellphone records, they must "get a warrant." Carpenter, 138 S. Ct. 

2206, 2221; State v. Muhammad, 194 Wn.2d 577,451 P.3d 1060 

(2019). 

A search warrant must be supported by probable cause. 

Statev. Murray, 110Wn.2d 706,711,757 P.2d 487 (1988). 

Probable cause is established when the search warrant affidavit 

provides facts sufficient for a "reasonable person" applying 

"reasonable inferences" to conclude there is a probability the 

suspect is probably involved in criminal activity and evidence of the 

crime can be found at the place to be searched. State v. Vickers, 

148 Wn.2d 91, 108, 59 P.3d 58 (2002); State v. Cole, 128 Wn.2d 

262, 286, 906 P.2d 925 (1995). "It is only the probability of criminal 

activity, not a prima facie showing of it; that governs probable 
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cause." State v. Maddox, 152 Wn.2d 499, 505, 98 P.3d 1199 

(2004). 

A warrant affidavit is evaluated "in a common sense manner, 

rather than hypertechnically." State v. Lyons, 174 Wn.2d 354, 360, 

275 P.3d 314 (2012). The issuing judge's determination of 

probable cause is given great deference and is reviewed under an 

abuse of discretion standard. Maddox, 152 Wn.2d at 509. All 

doubts must be resolved in favor of the warrant's validity. kl 

Here the warrant affidavit established that prior to the 

burglary and trafficking Denham possessed two cellphones and the 

police had the cellphone numbers. The affidavit also established 

that within a day of the burglary, Denham used his phones in 

trafficking the stolen jewelry. From here the Court of Appeals' 

analysis went awry. 

The issuing magistrate and the trial court found facts 

sufficient to support the reasonable inference that Denham 

committed burglary and trafficking. This probable cause 

determination was not challenged on appeal. Rather, Denham 

claimed that the facts in the warrant affidavits provided an 

insufficient nexus between the crime and the place to be searched 

- his home and his cellphone records. 
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The Court of Appeals recognized that cellphone and 

cellphone records may contain a great deal of information and that 

most people possess a cellphone. At the same time, in an 

apparent juxtaposition, the Court characterized the finding of the 

nexus as pure "speculation" and a "general, exploratory," search, 

the type of search condemned by State v. Thein, 138 Wn.2d 133, 

977 P.2d 582 (1999). But the probable cause nexus here was not 

based on the type of frowned-upon language, such as, "the affiant 

is aware that persons committing this type of crime generally 

conceal evidence [place to be searched]." See, ~. Thein, supra, 

(condemning the premise in the affidavit that all drug dealers keep 

evidence of the crime in their homes). The affidavits provided 

probable cause that Denham committed burglary, that he 

possessed certain cellphones before and after he committed the 

burglary. A reasonable person could certainly draw a reasonable 

inference that it was probable, not a given, that Denham's 

cellphone records would provide evidence of the burglary, 

specifically his location. 

This is where this Court's jurisprudence is required. A 

warrant affidavit is evaluated "in a common sense manner." State 

v. Lyons, 174 Wn.2d 354, 360, 275 P.3d 314 (2012). And a "Judge 
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looking for probable cause in an affidavit may draw reasonable 

inferences about where evidence is likely to be kept." State v. 

Gebaroff, 87 Wn. App. 11, 16, 939 P.2d 706 (1997). This Court 

has stated that absent exigent circumstances or some other 

exception, a search warrant is the method to be used to obtain a 

suspect's cellphone records. Thus, search warrants for cellphone 

records are now a common investigative tool. However, other than 

general guiding principles applicable to all search warrants, this 

Court has yet attempted to define the parameters of when such 

records can be obtained. 

The constitutional parameters of when a search warrant for 

cellphone records can be obtained is a significant question of law 

under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United 

States. Ensuring the proper use of search warrants is of 

substantial public interest by protecting privacy rights where 

appropriate, providing police with an understanding of when and 

how this investigative tool can be used, and in preventing future 

cases from potentially being reversed because the parameters 

have not been defined by this Court. This case provides that 

opportunity. And finally, the State believes that the Court of 

Appeals has misinterpreted or misapplied this Court's general 
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2005-12 Denham SupCt 



search warrant guidelines in regards to "speculative" search 

warrants and reasonable inferences. 

ISSUE TWO: SHOULD THIS COURT CLARIFY THAT 
ER 404(b) EVIDENCE DOES NOT BECOME IRRELEVANT 
SIMPLY BECAUSE IT DOES NOT GO TO PROVE A 
SPECIFIC ELEMENT OF A CRIME 

The trial court allowed for the admission of evidence that 

Denham possessed the knowledge and skill necessary to pull off a 

sophisticated burglary. The Court of Appeals held that this was 

error because knowledge is not an element of burglary, and thus, 

the evidence was not relevant under ER 404(b) as to any element 

of the crime. This Court should accept review because this is an 

incorrect statement of the law, is contrary to other decisions by this 

Court and published decisions by the Court of Appeals, and 

continued adherence to this mistaken premise will result in a 

multitude of cases being reversed on appeal and incorrect rulings 

by the trial courts. 

Prior to committing the burglary in this case, Denham 

committed a number of other sophisticated commercial burglaries 

for which he was ultimately convicted. CP 156-318,2 338. During 

2 CP 156-318 are court documents showing Denham's prior burglary convictions. 

The documents and convictions were not admitted at trial. They were admitted 
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the course of the investigation into those burglaries Denham gave a 

recorded statement to detectives. CP 396; Trial Exhibits 41 & 42 

(CD's of the interview). In the interview Denham discussed the 

knowledge and skill he possessed in committing commercial 

burglaries successfully and undetected. kL. 

The trial court ruled that the interview was admissible for the 

purpose of showing that Denham possessed the "sophisticated 

knowledge" to pull off an elaborate burglary, including the ability to 

bypass alarm systems and various electronics. 3RP 225-28. The 

court ruled that the actual prior convictions were not admissible. 

3RP 226. 

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court ruling was in 

error. Specifically, the Court held that because knowledge is not an 

element of burglary, the evidence cannot be relevant for that 

purpose under ER 404(b). 

ER 404(b) provides a nonexclusive list of permissible 

purposes for admitting evidence of a person's "other crimes, 

wrongs, or acts" to prove such things as "motive, opportunity, 

intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake 

for sentencing purposes only. See CP 156. They are cited herein to provide this 

Court with an understanding of the actions that occurred at trial. 
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or accident." ER 404(b); State v. Slocum, 183 Wn. App. 438,448, 

333 P.3d 541 (2014). At the same time, ER 404(b) prohibits the 

admission of other crimes, wrongs or acts to show that the 

defendant acted in conformity with his character to commit such 

crimes, i.e., propensity evidence. State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 

405, 427, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). 

To admit evidence of a person's prior bad acts, the trial court 

must (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the 

misconduct occurred, (2) identify the purpose for which the 

evidence is sought to be introduced, (3) determine whether the 

evidence is relevant to an issue in the case, and (4) weigh the 

probative value against the prejudicial effect. State v. Lough, 125 

Wn.2d 847, 853, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). The decision to admit prior 

bad act evidence lies within the sound discretion of the trial court 

and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. 

Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). An abuse of 

discretion is found when a trial judge's decision is "manifestly 

unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable 

reasons." State v. Gentry, 183 Wn.2d 749, 761, 356 P.3d 714 

(2015). 
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This Court, as well as other courts, have held that the 

admissibility of 404(b) evidence is not limited to directly proving an 

element of the charged crime. The rule simply contemplates that 

evidence of other misconduct is admissible if (1) the evidence 

sought to be admitted is relevant and necessary to a material issue, 

and (2) the probative value of the evidence outweighs its potential 

for prejudice. State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 

(1995). Evidence is relevant and necessary if the purpose of 

admitting the evidence is of consequence to the action and makes 

the existence of the identified fact more probable. kl at 259. 

For example, motive is not an element of murder, but courts 

have historically admitted prior acts of violence in murder cases to 

prove motive because proof of motive makes it more likely the 

defendant committed the crime. See State v. Americk, 42 Wn.2d 

504, 256 P.2d 278 (1953) (in prosecution for placing a bomb in his 

ex-wife's car, evidence of prior assaults during the marriage 

admitted to show intent and motive); State v. Neslund, 50 Wn. App. 

531,545,559, 749 P.2d 725, rev. denied, 110 Wn.2d 1025 (1988) 

(prior quarrels was evidence of motive). This Court has held in sex 

cases that lustful disposition evidence (prior sexual acts 

perpetrated against the same victim) is admissible even though 
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lustful disposition is not an element of the crime. State v. Ray, 116 

Wn.2d 531, 547, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991). And res gestae evidence 

-- evidence of other bad acts committed near in time to the charged 

crime, is admissible where the acts constitute a "link in the chain" of 

events surrounding the charged offense and the admission of the 

evidence aids in completing the picture depicted to the jury. State 

v. Hughes, 118 Wn. App. 713, 725, 77 P.3d 681 (2003) (citing State 

v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 571, 940 P.2d 546 (1997)). 

"Relevant evidence" is "evidence having any tendency to 

make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the 

determination of the action more probable or less probable than it 

would be without the evidence." ER 401. Here, Denham's 

interview was not admitted to prove knowledge as an element of 

burglary. Rather, the evidence was relevant because it showed he 

possessed the sophisticated knowledge or expertise necessary to 

have pulled off the charged crime, that he knew how to bypass 

sophisticated electronic alarm systems, enter commercial buildings 

undetected, break into safes, etc. Thus, like other ER 404(b) 

evidence, it made it more likely he committed the crime. 
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A view from a different perspective highlights the Court of 

Appeals' misunderstanding of the admissibility of the evidence. If 

there was evidence that showed Denham lacked a certain 

intelligence level or ability to grasp and hold sophisticated 

concepts, this clearly would have been admissible evidence by the 

defense to show it was less likely he committed the charged 

burglary. As this Court's many decisions demonstrate, the 

relevance and admissibility of ER 404(b) evidence is not limited to 

proving (or disproving) a specific element of a charged crime. 

There is no case directly on point regarding burglary and ER 

404(b) evidence. However, the general proposition of the Court of 

Appeals in this case is in direct conflict with decisions of this Court 

and published decisions of the Court of Appeals. This mistaken 

interpretation of the law, if continued, will result in cases getting 

reversed improperly and trial court misapplying the law. Thus, for 

these reasons it is imperative that this Court accept review. 
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E. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons cited above, this Court should accept review 

of the two issues raised herein.