FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/12/2020 11:42 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 98591-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGT	ON
STATE OF WASHINGTON,	
Petitioner,	
v.	
LYNELL DENHAM,	
Respondent.	
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY	
The Honorable Helen Halpert, Judge	
ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW	
MARY T. S	

Attorney for Respondent

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Respondent Lynell Denham, the appellant below, asks this Court to deny the State's Petition for Review.

B. <u>COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

The State seeks review of the court of appeals' unpublished decision in State v. Denham, No. 78704-7-I, filed April 27, 2020.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In an unpublished opinion, the court of appeals held two key pieces of evidence were improperly admitted at Denham's bench trial for second degree burglary and trafficking in stolen property. The court concluded cumulative error resulting from this improperly admitted evidence warranted a new trial: "We cannot conclude that overwhelming evidence of guilt existed for Denham absent these errors." Opinion, 20.

First, the court of appeals held the trial court erred in refusing to suppress Denham's cell phone records, particularly his cell-site location information (CSLI). Opinion, 9-13. The court held "[t]he application for the search warrant for Denham's cell phone records was insufficient as it failed to provide specific information demonstrating a nexus between Denham, the criminal act, the information to be seized and the item to be searched." Opinion, 13. While warrant affidavit established Denham had two cell phones, "it failed to establish that Denham had either of the cell phones in

question in his possession on the night of the burglary." Opinion, 11. The affidavit otherwise contained only "blanket inferences and generalities" about typical cell phone habits, "offer[ing] no specific facts as to Denham or the use of cell phones in the burglary at issue here." Opinion, 12.

Second, the court of appeals held the trial court erroneously admitted Denham's involvement in prior burglaries as evidence of knowledge, where knowledge is not an element of burglary and Denham did not make any issue of knowledge. Opinion, 16-18. The trial court expressly relied on the improper "knowledge" evidence to conclude the State proved Denham's identity as the burglar. Opinion, 17. This was despite the fact that the trial court found the evidence did not meet the stringent test for identity. Opinion, 15. The court of appeals accordingly found the error was not harmless, where the prior bad acts were "the primary evidence that the court used to connect [Denham] to the burglary." Opinion, 18.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

1. The court of appeals correctly applied the well-established nexus requirement to the warrant for Denham's cell phone records.

The court of appeals decision breaks no new ground. The U.S. Supreme Court in <u>Carpenter v. United States</u>, __U.S. __, 138 S. Ct. 2206, 2219, 201 L. Ed. 2d 507 (2018), held individuals have a reasonable expectation of privacy in their CSLI under the Fourth Amendment. CSLI

"provides an intimate window into a person's life, revealing not only his particular movements, but through them his familial, political, professional, religious, and sexual associations." <u>Id.</u> at 2217. Thus, "[b]efore compelling a wireless carrier to turn over a subscribers CSLI, the Government's obligation is a familiar one—get a warrant." <u>Id.</u> at 2221.

Following <u>Carpenter</u>, seven members of this Court agreed individuals have a constitutional right to privacy under article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution to both historical and real-time CSLI (cell phone "ping"). <u>State v. Muhammad</u>, 194 Wn.2d 577, 589, 611, 451 P.3d 1060 (2019) (lead opinion). The State therefore needs a "valid warrant" to obtain either, absent a recognized exception to the warrant requirement. <u>Id.</u> at 628 (Gordon McCloud, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part).

In State v. Phillip, __Wn. App. 2d.__, 452 P.3d 553, 559-60 (2019), review denied, 194 Wn.2d 1017 (2020), the court of appeals likewise recognized the right to privacy in CSLI. The Phillip court accordingly applied "the constitutional requirements of a warrant" to CSLI. Id. at 554. "To be constitutionally valid, a warrant must not only be supported by probable cause but it must also specifically tie the facts known to the State to the specific evidence it seeks to obtain." Id. at 561 (emphasis added). As noted, this Court denied review in Phillip.

These cases together stand for the unremarkable proposition that the usual warrant requirements apply to CSLI. This Court clearly articulated the warrant requirements in <u>State v. Thein</u>, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). A warrant may issue only on probable cause, which "requires a nexus between criminal activity and the item to be seized." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>State v. Goble</u>, 88 Wn. App. 503, 509, 945 P.2d 263 (1997)). There must be specific facts tying the place to be searched to the crime; generalities about the habits of criminals will not suffice. <u>Id.</u> at 147-48.

Generalities are precisely what the State relied on here to obtain the warrant for Denham's cell phone records, including his CSLI. The State glosses over these in its petition for review. State's Petition, 11 (claiming "the probable cause nexus here was not based on the type of frowned-upon language, such as, 'the affiant is aware that persons committing this type of crime generally conceal evidence [place to be searched]'").

Contrary to the State's assertions, the warrant affidavit made only broad, generalized statements about cell phone usage, such as: "Courts have recognized that the majority of Americans possess and use cellular telephones, and that most of those keep the phones within their reach at all times." CP 424. And, like the general habits of drug dealers condemned as insufficient in Thein: "Based on my experience, those involved in criminal enterprises sometimes will use multiple phones in the commission of crimes,

to facilitate criminal activity, and/or to avoid detection by law enforcement." CP 438-39. No specific facts tied criminal activity to Denham's CSLI. Opinion, 11-12.

The State would essentially have this Court carve out an exception to the nexus requirement for cell phone records. In the State's view, a warrant for CSLI should issue so long as there is probable cause to believe the person committed a crime. Never mind specific facts tying criminal activity to the CSLI—it is enough that everyone carries a cell phone nowadays. This is a frightening, and unconstitutional, prospect.

The court of appeals rightly resisted the State's invitation, rejecting the notion that probable cause to believe Denham was engaged in criminal activity was sufficient to search his CSLI. Opinion, 13. The court instead applied the case law discussed above and held "the nexus between the crime and the place or item to be searched is lacking." Opinion, 10. The court reasoned the affidavit contained "precisely the sort of blanket inferences and generalities that, without additional specific facts, our courts have declared insufficient to establish the requisite nexus for the issuance of constitutionally valid search warrants." Opinion, 12.

There is no "unanswered" question of constitutional law here. State's Petition, 8. The court of appeals decision involved straightforward application of <u>Carpenter</u>, <u>Muhammed</u>, and <u>Thein</u>, along with its own prior decision in Phillip. This Court should deny review of this issue.

2. This Court's review is unnecessary on the ER 404(b) knowledge issue because there is no conflict in the case law and no other review criteria are met.

The trial court excluded Denham's prior involvement in federal bank burglaries as evidence of identity, or modus operandi (MO), concluding it did not meet the stringent test for MO. RP 226. But the court admitted the evidence for Denham's "sophisticated knowledge" of complex burglaries. RP 225-26. The court then relied, in large part, on the so-called knowledge evidence to conclude "Mr. Denham was the burglar." CP 322-23. The court, in turn, relied on Denham's identity as the burglar to conclude he trafficked in stolen property. CP 323.

The court of appeals agreed with Denham's argument on appeal that "the court improperly relied on his knowledge and skills as evidence of the identity of the perpetrator of the burglary." Opinion, 17. The court correctly noted "[k]knowledge is not an element of the burglary charge." Opinion, 16. The court therefore reasoned "it is unclear how the evidence of his

¹ The entirety of Finding of Fact 34 reads: "The evidence showed that someone entered Mallinak Designs without permission, broke and entered with the intent to commit a crime. The Court finds that with Mr. Denham's specialized knowledge and his possession of stolen property very shortly after the crime occurred, it is satisfied that circumstantial evidence establishes that Mr. Denham was the burglar, in violation of RCW 9A.52.030." CP 322-23.

knowledge is necessary, unless it went to identity, when no evidence as to skill was required to prove the crime." Opinion, 16.

The State contends the court of appeals decision is incorrect and, furthermore, is in "direct conflict" with existing case law. State's Petition, 18. The State is wrong.

This Court very clearly held in <u>State v. Powell</u>, 126 Wn.2d 244, 262, 893 P.2d 615 (1995), that prior bad acts are inadmissible to prove intent unless "intent is at issue or when proof of the doing of the charged act does not itself conclusively establish intent." In other words, intent must be an essential element or "essential ingredient" of the crime charged. <u>Id.</u> at 258.

This Court and the court of appeals has applied this rule time and again. See, e.g., State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 366, 655 P.2d 697 (1982) (prior assault improperly admitted as evidence of intent where "intent was not an 'essential point which the state was required to establish' in this case" (quoting State v. Goebel, 40 Wn.2d 18, 22, 240 P.2d 251 (1952)); State v. Wilson, 144 Wn. App. 166, 177, 181 P.3d 887 (2008) (same "where intent is not an element of felony murder"); State v. Dewey, 93 Wn. App. 50, 58, 966 P.2d 414 (1998), overruled on other grounds by State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 74 P.3d 119 (2003) (same where intent is not an element of third degree rape and "there was no issue of intent").

Knowledge is akin to intent. Like intent, knowledge is a mens rea, i.e., the state of mind necessary for criminal liability. RCW 9A.08.010. As a mens rea, knowledge is not like motive, lustful disposition, or res gestae, as the State advocates in its petition. State's Petition, 16-17. Consistent with Powell, the court of appeals has repeatedly held prior bad acts are admissible to prove knowledge only where knowledge is an element of the crime or otherwise at issue. See, e.g., State v. Bacotgarcia, 59 Wn. App. 815, 821, 801 P.2d 993 (1990) ("It is difficult to comprehend why the defendant's knowledge of promoting prostitution was an 'essential ingredient' of the crime charged since the mere fact that such a crime had been committed would establish knowledge."²); State v. Essex, 57 Wn. App. 411, 418, 788 P.2d 589 (1990) (knowledge was a "specific element" of the charged crime); State v. Donald, 68 Wn. App. 543, 547, 844 P.2d 447 (1993) (same).

Knowledge is not an element of burglary. RCW 9A.52.030(1) (entering or remaining unlawfully in a building with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein). Nor did Denham put knowledge at issue, like asserting he lacked the technical skills or intelligence to carry out the burglary. Opinion, 17. Knowledge was, simply put, not an essential ingredient the State had to prove or disprove. The court of appeals correctly

-

² In other words, the act of promoting prostitution itself conclusively established knowledge, consistent the holding of <u>Powell</u>.

analyzed and applied <u>Powell</u>. Opinion, 16. There is no conflict in the case law. No other criteria for review are met. This Court also deny review of this issue.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The court of appeals unpublished decision is thorough, well-reasoned, and rests on well-established case law. There is no need for this Court's review. This Court should deny the State's petition.

DATED this 12th day of June, 2020.

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC

MARY T. SWIFT

WSBA No. 45668

Office ID No. 91051

Attorneys for Respondent

NIELSEN KOCH P.L.L.C.

June 12, 2020 - 11:42 AM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

Appellate Court Case Number: 98591-0

Appellate Court Case Title: State of Washington v. Lynell Avery Denham

The following documents have been uploaded:

• 985910_Answer_Reply_20200612114111SC712477_2608.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review The Original File Name was ATPFR 98591-0.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

- dennis.mccurdy@kingcounty.gov
- kochd@nwattorney.net
- paoappellateunitmail@kingcounty.gov

Comments:

Copy mailed to: Lynell Denman DOC No. 937797 Monroe Correctional Complex • MSU P.O. Box 7001 Monroe, WA 98272

Sender Name: John Sloane - Email: Sloanej@nwattorney.net

Filing on Behalf of: Mary Swift - Email: swiftm@nwattorney.net (Alternate Email:)

Address:

1908 E. Madison Street Seattle, WA, 98122 Phone: (206) 623-2373

Note: The Filing Id is 20200612114111SC712477